#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### CASE NO. 76,778

#### DCA CASE NO. 89-02332

)

)

PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, d/b/a JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL,

Petitioner,

vs.

MAGDA MENENDEZ, and AMERICO MENENDEZ, as the natural parents, legal guardians and next friends of ADARIS MENENDEZ, a minor,

Respondents.

## ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

Florida Bar No. 500097

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, THE PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE COUNTY, FLORIA

# THORNTON, DAVID, MURRAY, RICHARD & DAVIS, P.A.

By: Aurora Ares Calvin F. David
Attorneys for Petitioner
2950 S.W. 27th Avenue, Suite 100
Miami, FL 33133

## **INTRODUCTION**

Petitioner, defendant in the trial court, the Public Health Trust of Dade County, Florida, is an agent and instrumentality of Dade County which maintains and operates Jackson Memorial Hospital. The Public Health Trust will hereinafter be referred to as the "Public Health Trust," or alternatively as the "PHT," or "Defendant." Jackson Memorial Hospital will be referred to alternatively as "Jackson Memorial Hospital" or "JMH."

Respondents, Magda and Americo Menendez, plaintiffs in the trial court, will be referred to by their names or as "respondents." The University of Miami and Mary O'Sullivan, M.D. were additional defendants below but are not part of this appeal. They will be alternatively referred to in this brief as the "University" and "Dr. Mary O'Sullivan." References to the Appendix will be designated by (App. \_\_\_\_).

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 8, 1981, Magda Menendez was hemorrhaging during a pregnancy and she was admitted to Jackson Memorial Hospital for treatment. (R. 294, 1052). She remained hospitalized for one month and was discharged on July 8, 1981. (R. 2, 301, 1059). On July 14, 1981, Magda was again admitted to JMH due to hemorrhaging and, on July 18, 1981, JMH doctors performed a Cesarean delivery of Adaris, a baby girl. (R. 307-09, 311, 1065-67). Adaris was born ten weeks prematurely and, after her birth, she was taken to JMH's intensive care unit, where she remained hospitalized until August 29, 1981. (R. 325, 1082).

Nine months later, in April 1982, Magda Menendez was told by a doctor at the University of Miami Mailman Center that Adaris had cerebral palsy and congenital brain damage and that she had been born with numerous other problems. (R. 337, 1094). In January

1984, a physical therapist told Magda that Adaris' brain damage may have been caused by the doctors' decision to delay delivery at which time Magda's blood loss had deprived Adaris of oxygen. (R. 339, 363, 1096, 1119).<sup>1</sup> The Menendezes took no action and did not consult a lawyer until July 16, 1985. (R. 811). On July 18, 1985, two days later, the four-year statute of repose governing medical malpractice actions expired. It was not until September 30, 1985, two months *after that*, that the Menendezes filed a complaint for damages for medical malpractice against the PHT, the University and Dr. O'Sullivan, alleging that the obstetrical treatment rendered to Magda fell below the reasonable standard of care resulting in Adaris' brain damage. (R. 1-6, 479-93).

The defendants denied the allegations and moved to dismiss the complaint on the basis that the statutes of limitations and repose barred the action. (R. 92-94, 130-46, 147-57). The Menendezes replied that the statutes of limitations and repose were tolled by the defendant's alleged fraud, misrepresentation and concealment. (R. 543-46, 552-59). However, the trial court rejected respondents' argument and dismissed the complaint, holding that the action was barred by §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980), the statute of repose for medical malpractice actions. (R. 2936-37). The Menendezes appealed. (R. 859).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part. The appellate court held that the action, with respect to the private health care providers, The University of Miami and Dr. Mary O'Sullivan, was barred by the four-year statute of repose because the Menendezes discovered the possible negligence within the repose period and yet did not timely

1

The Public Health Trust has denied this allegation.

file their complaint. Menendez v. Public Health Trust, 566 So.2d 279, 281 (Fla. 3d DCA

1990). The court stated:

Ê

Although plaintiffs assert that defendants attempted to conceal their negligence, such concealment did not prevent plaintiffs from discovering the negligence within the four-year period of the statute of repose.... [P]laintiffs were informed of possible negligence as early as January of 1984, when the physical therapist informed plaintiffs that she thought the mother's hemorrhaging during pregnancy caused the child's brain damage. Despite their knowledge of possible negligence at that time, plaintiffs took no action until approximately eighteen months later, when they consulted an attorney, two days before the expiration of the statute; however, they did not file an action for an additional two months. Under the circumstances, the trial court did not err in applying the statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) to bar plaintiffs' action.

566 So.2d at 281. (Citations omitted).

However, the Third District reversed the trial court's dismissal with respect to the Public Health Trust. *Id.* at 282. The court held that the statute of repose governing medical malpractice actions did not apply to a medical malpractice action brought against a government agency such as the PHT. Instead, the Court of Appeal held that medical malpractice actions brought against government health care providers are governed by 768.28(11), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980), the statute of limitations applicable to general tort actions brought against state agencies. *Ibid.* Section 768.28(11), Fla. Stat. requires that tort actions brought against state agencies be filed within four years after the cause of action accrues.<sup>2</sup> That statute, however, does not provide a statute of repose. Because a medical malpractice action often accrues when plaintiffs are put on notice of the invasion of a legal right, the Court of Appeal remanded the case for

2

Section 768.28(11), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980) states:

Every claim against the state or one of its agencies or subdivisions for damages for a negligent or wrongful act or omission pursuant to this section shall be forever barred unless the civil action is commenced by filing a complaint in the court of appropriate jurisdiction within 4 years after such claim accrues.

a determination of when the Menendezes knew or should have known of either the injury or the possible negligence giving rise to the claim against the PHT. *Ibid*.

The PHT thereafter timely petitioned this Court to review whether the statute of repose contained in \$95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980) applies to medical malpractice actions brought against governmental health care providers such as the PHT. The PHT asserted jurisdictional conflict between the Third District's decision and this Court's decision in *Carr v*. *Broward County*, 541 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1989). By order dated February 26, 1991, this Court accepted jurisdiction on the PHT's petition.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District erred in holding that the four-year statute of repose of §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980) does not apply to medical malpractice actions brought against government health care providers such as the Public Health Trust. Initially, it should be noted that the Third District erred in creating an exception to the statute's applicability which is not supported by its express terms. The statute of repose unequivocally applies to "health care providers." Because this clear and unambiguous language plainly includes any hospital which renders medical treatment to the sick or injured, the statute of repose applies to actions brought against the Public Health Trust, the operator of such an institution. Moreover, the fact that the statute applies comprehensively to actions arising from "any" medical treatment rendered by "any" health care providers and renders the statute applicable to some health care providers and not others.

- 4 -

Additionally, assuming *arguendo* that §95.11(4)(b) is not clear and unambiguous on its face, a review of the legislation which enacted the statute of repose demonstrates that it was intended to apply to claims arising from the treatment rendered by any licensed hospital, be it a private or a governmental entity. The statute of repose was enacted by the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975, which refers to "health care providers" and applies to "hospitals licensed under chapter 395." Both private and governmental hospital are required to be licensed under chapter 395. Therefore, in applying the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of an apply the Act's statute of repose to actions brought against both private and governmental hospitals.

Moreover, subsequent amendments to the Medical Malpractice Reform Act reinforce the conclusion that any licensed hospital is a "health care provider" as that phrase is defined in §95.11(4)(b). Section 395.18, Fla. Stat. (1975) relating to internal risk management programs was enacted by Section 3 of the Act. That statute section was later transferred to §768.41, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1976) and amended to clarify that it applies to "every" licensed hospital. Section 627.355, Fla. Stat. (1975) dealing with medical malpractice insurance was enacted by Section 4 of the Act and was later transferred to §768.52 (Supp. 1976) and amended to specify that it applies to "health care providers" as defined in §768.54(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1976). That statute section, in turn, provides that "health care provider" means "*any*...hospital licensed under chapter 395."

All licensed hospitals are included within the statutory definition of "health care provider" in still other amendments to the Medical Malpractice Reform Act which created new

- 5 -

statute sections. Section 768.45, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1976) relating to standards of recovery for medical negligence and §768.50, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1976) relating to collateral sources of indemnity apply to "health care providers" as defined in §768.53(9), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1976). That statute section includes all hospitals licensed under chapter 395 within its statutory definition of "health care provider." Similarly, §768.48, Fla. Stat. (1977) dealing with itemized verdicts and §768.51, Fla. Stat. (1977) dealing with alternative methods of payment apply to "health care providers." Those statute sections reference the definition of the phrase in 768.50(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1977) which states that "'[h]ealth care provider' means hospitals licensed under chapter 395." Therefore, because the legislature has uniformly defined the phrase "health care provider" to include all hospitals licensed under chapter 395, the statute of repose applies to actions against the Public Health Trust, the operator of a licensed hospital and therefore a "health care provider" as that phrase is defined throughout the Florida Statutes.

Furthermore, the Third District's selective application of the statute of repose to only private health care providers is not supported by case law. In *Carr v. Broward County*, 541 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that the statute of repose barred an action against the operator of a governmental hospital. In *Taddiken v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund*, 478 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that the legislature intended to apply §95.11(4)(b) to all defendants having an interest in the defense of the same medical malpractice action.

Additionally, the Third District also ignores that the purpose of the statute of repose is to supercede the statute of limitations and to place durational limits on medical malpractice liability. The Third District's decision frustrates this legislative intent because governmental health care providers are still subject to the longer statute of limitations, which does not

- 6 -

commence until the patient discovers the invasion of a legal right. Moreover, because private health care providers remain liable to governmental providers in contribution, the liability of private health care providers is extended beyond the repose period whenever a private and a governmental health care provider are jointly implicated in the same allegation of malpractice.

Significantly, the Third District's application of the statute of repose to only private health care providers will also lead to unreasonable or absurd results. Under its decision, private defendants will be dismissed from actions while the remaining governmental defendant will bear the total burden of defending against allegations of joint misdeeds. Additionally, the application of the longer limitations period to the claims against governmental health care providers will permit the late joinder of the governmental defendant after the outcome of the litigation has been substantially decided in its absence.

The Third District based its decision on Whitney v. Marion County Hosp. Dist., 416 So.2d 500 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), which held that medical malpractice actions against governmental health care providers are governed by the statute of limitations for general tort actions against state agencies and not by §95.11(4)(b). However, the legislature has now amended the law to expressly require that medical malpractice actions against governmental health care providers be brought in accordance with §95.11(4)(b). The fact that this statutory change was enacted in specific reaction to the Whitney line of cases strongly suggests that that decision misapprehended the original legislative intent and that the Third District's decision is base on authority which is no longer good law.

The Third District's construction of §95.11(4)(b) leads to unreasonable and absurd results and ignores the statute's language, purpose, legislative history and court decisions. In

- 7 -

carving out an unwarranted exception for government health care providers, the decision below frustrates the legislative policy of providing for the absolute repose of medical malpractice claims. The legislature has determined, and this Court has agreed, that perpetual liability places an undue burden on health care providers. The statute of repose cannot effectively limit liability and contain health care costs if judicially created exceptions exclude a significant category of claims from its general applicability.

#### ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE STATUTE OF REPOSE CONTAINED IN §95.11(4)(b), FLA. STAT. (SUPP. 1980) DOES NOT APPLY TO MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTIONS BROUGHT AGAINST GOVERNMENT HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS SUCH AS THE PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST.

The statute of repose contained in §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980) provides that "[a]n action for medical malpractice shall be commenced...[no] later than 4 years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of action accrued."<sup>3</sup> The instant action arises out of the allegedly negligent obstetrical treatment received by Magda Menendez during

3

In its entirety, §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980) provides:

An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within 2 years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within 2 years from the time the incident is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; however, in no event shall the action be commenced later than 4 years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of action accrued. An "action for medical malpractice" is defined as a claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss to any person arising out of any medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment, or care by any provider of health care. The limitation of actions within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons in privity with the provider of health care. In those actions covered by this paragraph in which it can be shown that fraud, concealment, or intentional misrepresentation of fact prevented the discovery of the injury within the 4-year period, the period of limitations is extended forward 2 years from the time that the injury is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, but in no event to exceed 7 years from the date the incident giving rise to the injury occurred.

the delivery of her child, Adaris, at Jackson Memorial Hospital.<sup>4</sup> Although the alleged "incident" of malpractice is alleged to have occurred during the period leading up to the birth of Adaris Menendez on July 18, 1981, suit was not filed until September 30, 1985, almost four years and two-months after Adaris' birth. Therefore, under the statute of repose provisions in §95.11(4)(b), the instant action is barred because it was not brought within four years of the "incident" giving rise to the action.

However, the Third District Court refused to apply the statute of repose of \$95.11(4)(b) to the instant case. Although \$95.11(4)(b) was specifically enacted to provide a statute of repose and a statute of limitations for medical malpractice actions, the court ruled that \$95.11(4)(b) does not apply to medical malpractice claims arising from the treatment rendered by governmental hospitals. *Menendez v. Public Health Trust, 566 So.2d 279, 282 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)*. Instead, the court held that medical malpractice actions brought against government health care providers are governed by \$768.28(11), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1980), which supplies a four-year statute of limitations for general tort actions brought against state agencies, but which does not provide a statute of repose.<sup>5</sup> *Ibid*. The Third District has ignored the rather consdierable evidence that, contrary to its ruling, the legislature intended to apply the statute of repose of \$95.11(4)(b) to medical malpractice brought against any health care provider.

The only proper function of a court engaged in the task of statutory construction is to effectuate the legislative intent. *Florida State Racing Com. v. McLaughlin, 102 So.2d 574 (Fla.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Public Health Trust is an agency and instrumentality of Dade County which operates Jackson Memorial Hospital.

<sup>5</sup> See footnote 2.

1958). Legislative intent is determined primarily from the plain meaning of statutory language. Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d 946, 948-49 (Fla. 1988). When the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, the plain and obvious meaning of its terms control its construction.

The statute of repose of §95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat. unequivocally applies to "health care providers and persons in privity with the provider of health care." The plain and obvious meaning of the phrase "health care provider" necessarily encompasses institutions such as hospitals, which provide health care to the sick or injured. Jackson Memorial Hospital is one such "health care provider." Therefore, the Public Health Trust, as the operator of Jackson Memorial Hospital, is a "health care provider" under §95.11(4)(b).

In holding that §95.11(4)(b) did not apply to the instant action, the Third District created an exception to the statute's general applicability which is at odds with its express terms. However, this Court has stated:

Florida case law contains a plethora of rules and extrinsic aids to guide courts in their efforts to discern legislative intent from ambiguously worded statutes. However, "[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." It has also been accurately stated that courts of this state are "without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or *limit*, its express terms or its *reasonable* and *obvious implications*. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power."

531 So.2d at 949, (citations omitted, emphasis in original), quoting, Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984).

There is nothing in the plain and obvious meaning of the phrase "health care provider" which exempts "governmental" health care providers from the statute's application. In fact, the

- 10 -

statute of repose defines "an action for medical malpractice" as a damage claim "arising out of *any* medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment, or care by *any* provider of health care." (Emphasis supplied). The use by the legislature of this comprehensive phrase indicates an intent to include everything embraced within its terms. *Florida State Racing Com. v. McLaughlin, 102 So.2d at 576.* Therefore, a statute which unambiguously applies to "any" treatment rendered by "any" provider of health care does not *permit* a construction which discriminates between different types of health care providers and renders the statute applicable to some health care providers and not others. Instead, the clear and unambiguous terms of §95.11(4)(b) unequivocally evince the legislative intent that the statute of repose apply universally to medical malpractice actions brought against any "health care provider," be it private or public. Consequently, under the "plain meaning" rule, the Public Health Trust is a "health care provider" under §95.11(4)(b), and the Third District erred in creating a statutory exception which is unwarranted by the plain meaning of the statute's terms.

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