OA 6.5-91

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 30 1991

CASE NO. 76,778

FLORIDA BAR NO Chief 9927 Slerk

PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, d/b/a JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL,

Petitioner,

vs.

MAGDA MENENDEZ and AMERICO MENENDEZ, as the natural parents, legal guardians and next of friend of ADARIS MENENDEZ, a minor,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

GEORGE W. CHESROW + Orlando R. Ruis LAW OFFICES OF RUIZ & CHESROW 3127 Ponce de Leon Boulevard Suite 200 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 443-4949

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly held that the four year statute of limitations provided in section 768.28(11) of the Florida Statutes (Supp. 1980) applies to this negligence action against the Public Health Trust.

Although the Fourth District Court of Appeal applied the statute of repose of section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes to a malpractice action against Broward General Medical Center in Carr v. Broward County, 505 So.2d 568 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), the Fourth District has recently clarified and explained that the issue of whether section 768.28(11) of the Florida Statutes or section 95.11(4)(b) should have been applied was neither presented to nor considered by the court in Carr.

In Lewis v. North Broward Hospital District d/b/a Broward General Medical Center, 16 F.L.W. D529 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 20, 1991) the Fourth District explained that its prior decision in Carr does not hold that the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes applies to malpractice claims brought against state agencies. In Lewis, the court held that the four year statute of limitations provided in section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes (formerly section 768.28(11)) rather than the four year statute of repose provided in section 95.11(4)(b) applies to a medical malpractice action brought against a state agency prior to October 1, 1988. In 1988, section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes was amended to provide that an action for medical malpractice against a state agency must be commenced within the time limitations set forth in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes. Ch. 88-173, § 2, Laws of Fla. However, for cases filed prior to October 1, 1988, the four year statute of limitations provided in section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes applies to medical malpractice actions against state agencies. Lewis, supra.

Petitioner's arguments concerning the definitions of a health care provider do not provide a legal basis for applying the four year statute of repose to the Public Health Trust. Although Jackson Memorial Hospital is a health care provider, the legislature specifically provided in section 95.011 of the Florida Statutes that "if a different time is prescribed elsewhere in these statutes," the action must be brought "within the time prescribed elsewhere." The legislature prescribed a time elsewhere in section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes by prescribing a four year statute of limitations for all negligence actions against state agencies.

### POINT INVOLVED

THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE STATUTE OF REPOSE CONTAINED IN SECTION 95.11(4)(b) OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1980) DOES NOT APPLY TO MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTIONS BROUGHT AGAINST STATE AGENCIES SUCH AS THE PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE COUNTY.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The point involved in this proceeding has been recently addressed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in a dispositive decision which dispels all potential conflict, and clarifies and explains that the court's prior decision in Carr v. Broward County, 505 So.2d 568 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) does not hold that the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes applies to malpractice claims brought against state agencies prior to October 1, 1988. The decision is Lewis v. North Broward Hospital District d/b/a Broward General Medical Center, 16 F.L.W. D529 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 20, 1991). As petitioner has chosen not to call the Lewis decision to this Court's attention, and seeks

to ignore the Fourth District's clarification and explanation of its decision in <u>Carr</u>, a discussion of <u>Lewis</u> will be provided by respondent.

In <u>Lewis</u>, the plaintiffs filed a medical malpractice action against Broward General Medical Center, the very same hospital that had been sued by the Carrs in <u>Carr v. Broward County d/b/a Broward General Medical Center</u>, 505 So.2d 568 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The trial court in <u>Lewis</u> entered a summary judgment in favor of Broward General Medical Center, holding that the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes (1979) applied to Broward General Medical Center, a state agency, based upon the Fourth District's decision in <u>Carr v. Broward County</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court in <u>Lewis</u>, and upon analysis of its prior holding in <u>Carr</u> determined that the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes (1979) is not applicable to medical malpractice actions brought against state agencies prior to October 1, 1988.

The court in <u>Lewis</u> commenced its analysis of the issue by observing that in 1988 the legislature amended section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes (formerly section 768.28(11)) to specifically provide that commencing on October 1, 1988 an action against the state or one of its subdivisions or agencies for damages arising from medical malpractice must be commenced within the time limitations contained in section 95.11(4) of the Florida Statutes. Ch. 88-173, § 2, Laws of Fla. However, prior to October 1, 1988, section 768.28(12) provided that:

Every claim against the state or one of its agencies or subdivisions for damages for a negligent or wrongful act or omission pursuant to this section shall be forever barred unless the civil action is commenced by filing a complaint in the court of appropriate jurisdiction within 4 years after such claim accrues;....

Thus, the issue decided in <u>Lewis</u> was whether section 95.11(4)(b) or section 768.28(12) applies to medical malpractice actions brought against state agencies prior to October 1, 1988. The Fourth District observed in <u>Lewis</u> that this issue was never raised nor considered by the court when it decided <u>Carr</u>. The Fourth District stated in Lewis:

The issue here is whether, prior to October 1, 1988, an action for medical malpractice against a state agency for which sovereign immunity has been waived pursuant to section 768.28, Florida Statutes (1979) must be commenced within the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes. Although in the Carr case, supra this court did apply the statute of repose of section 95.11(4)(b) Florida Statutes to a malpractice action against this same appellee, a review of that decision and the briefs filed by the parties to that case shows that this issue was neither presented to nor considered by the court.

The Fourth District then determined, upon presentation and consideration of the issue in <u>Lewis</u>, that the four year statute of limitations contained in section 768.28 applies to a medical malpractice action against a state agency rather than the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b):

Appellee was subject to suit only by virtue of the waiver of sovereign immunity contained in section 768.28 Florida Statutes. Several cases involving medical malpractice actions against a state agency have held that the appropriate statute of limitations is the four-year statute contained in section 768.28 Florida Statutes, and not the two-year statute

found in section 95.11(4)(b) Florida Statutes. See Whitney v. Marion County Hospital District, 416 So.2d 500 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 456 So.2d 561 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Public Health Trust v. Knuck, 495 So.2d 834 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). While those cases did not involve the statute of repose, it would be illogical and inconsistent with the rationale of the holding in those cases to suggest that while the statute of limitations contained in section 95.11(4)(b) Florida Statutes did not apply, the statute of repose contained therein would.

The Fourth District concluded in <u>Lewis</u> that it was error for the trial court to apply the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statutes to Broward General Medical Center. In so holding, the Fourth District also relied upon the decision pending here in the case at bar in <u>Menendez v. Public Health Trust of Dade County</u>, Florida, 566 So.2d 279 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) for its holding that:

Section 768.28(11), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1980) which provides a four-year limitation without a period of repose for the filing of a negligence action against a state agency, is the appropriate statute of limitations in negligence actions against Jackson....

The decision in <u>Lewis</u> dispels all potential conflict between the decision in <u>Carr</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the Third District's decision in the case at bar, for it explains that the applicability of the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) to a malpractice action against a state agency "was neither presented to nor considered by the court" in <u>Carr</u>. Therefore, <u>Carr</u> does not hold that the four year statute of repose contained in section 95.11(4)(b) of the Florida Statute applies to a malpractice claim against a state agency. Similarly, a review of this Court's

decision in <u>Carr v. Broward County</u>, 541 So.2d 92, 95 (Fla. 1989) reveals that this Court simply affirmed the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the issue presented which was whether "the subject statute [section 95.11(4)(b)] was constitutionally enacted and bars the Carrs' medical malpractice action under the circumstances of this cause." This Court was not presented with and never passed upon the issue of whether section 95.11(4)(b) or section 768.28(12) properly applied to a pre-October 1, 1988 medical malpractice action against a state agency.

Petitioner seeks to rely upon numerous statutory definitions of a "health care provider" to argue that section 95.11(4)(b) applies to the Public Health Trust, an agency of the State of Florida, that operates Jackson Memorial Hospital. Suffice it to say that there is no ambiguity in the law and no need to resort to statutory construction. The statutory definition of a health care provider is not dispositive or even persuasive as to whether the legislature intended section 95.11(4)(b) to apply to medical malpractice claims against state agencies prior to October 1, 1988. The legislature specifically provided in section 95.011 of the Florida Statutes that:

A civil action or proceeding, called "action" in this chapter... shall be barred unless begun within the time prescribed in this chapter or, if a different time is prescribed elsewhere in these statutes, within the time prescribed elsewhere.

When sovereign immunity was waived by the enactment of section 768.28 of the Florida Statutes, the legislature prescribed a separate four year limitation for all actions against the state in section 768.28(11) of the Florida Statutes. Because a different

time for actions against state agencies resulting from the waiver of sovereign immunity was prescribed elsewhere in the statutes until section 768.28(12) was amended in 1988, the time periods provided by section 95.11(4)(b) did not apply to state agencies regardless of whether the state agency operated as a hospital or a health care provider. This analysis was relied upon by the court in Whitney v. Marion County Hospital District, 416 So.2d 500, 501 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) to hold that the four year statute of limitations provided by section 768.28 of the Florida Statutes applies to a hospital which operates in Florida as a state agency. The court held:

The statute of limitations for a medical malpractice action under section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1977), is two years from the date the incident occurred or was discovered, but no more than four years from the date of the incident. However, Chapter 95 specifically provides that where a different statute of limitations is provided elsewhere in the statutes, that different statute of limitations will apply. § 95.011, Florida Statutes (1977). On its face, therefore, because the Hospital is admittedly a State agency, chapter 95 unambiguously requires application of the limitation period provided in § 768.28(11) for tort actions against the See, Dubose v. Auto-Owners Insurance Company, 387 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

Petitioner's reliance on the definition of a health care provider is misplaced because <u>all</u> of the limitations provided by section 95.11(4)(b) apply to health care providers and persons in privity with the provider of health care. Thus, if the definition of health care provider was dispositive of the issue, both the two year statute of limitations as well as the four year statute of repose would have to apply to a medical malpractice action against

a state agency. Such a construction would render meaningless the provisions of section 95.011 requiring the application of a different time period where prescribed elsewhere in the statues. It is for this reason that the court in <u>Lewis</u> observed that it would be illogical to suggest that while the two year statue of limitations contained in section 95.11(4)(b) does not apply to a medical malpractice action against a state agency, the four year statute of repose therein would.

In <u>Moore v. Winter Haven Hospital</u>, 16 F.L.W. D1018 (Fla. 2d DCA April 12, 1991) the court observed that:

Although we recognize distinctions in the application of a statute of repose as opposed to a general statute of limitations, a statute repose is а form of statute a limitations and the terms are often used interchangeably. See Webster's Third New International Dictionary 2230 (1986). "statute of repose" is subsumed in the general term "statute of limitations" of section 95.11(4)(b)....

Because section 95.011 of the Florida Statutes unambiguously requires application of the time prescribed elsewhere where "a different time is prescribed elsewhere in these statutes," the Fourth District correctly observed in <u>Lewis</u>, <u>supra</u>, that prior to the October 1, 1988 amendment to section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes, neither the two year statute of limitations nor the four year statute of repose found in section 95.11(4)(b) applied to a medical malpractice action against a state agency. The legislature prescribed an entirely different time period in section 768.28(12) of the Florida Statutes.

Every court in Florida that has been presented with the issue has held that the four year statute of limitations provided within

section 768.28 applies to a medical malpractice action brought against a state agency prior to October 1, 1988. Lewis v. North Broward Hospital District d/b/a Broward General Medical Center, supra; Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. S.L.R., 458 So.2d 342, 343 (Fla 5th DCA 1984); Menendez v. Public Health Trust of Dade County, Florida, 566 So.2d 279 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Knuck, 495 So.2d 834, 837 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 456 So.2d 561, 564 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Whitney v. Marion County Hospital District, supra.

These decisions are entirely consistent with this Court's pronouncement in <u>Beard v. Hambrick</u>, 396 So.2d 708, 711 (Fla. 1981) concerning the intention of the legislature in prescribing a separate four year statute of limitations, within the enactment waiving sovereign immunity:

We believe that the legislature intended that there be one limitation period for all actions brought under section 768.28. We base this belief on the prerequisite notice provisions of this section and the need to have a uniform period for actions against government entities. See, DuBose v. Auto Owners Insurance Co., 387 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

In <u>Beard</u>, this Court held that the four year statute of limitations contained in section 768.28 applied to a wrongful death action against a state agency rather than the two year statute of limitations for wrongful death actions provided in Chapter 95 of the Florida Statutes.

In holding that the legislature intended a uniform limitation period to apply to all actions brought under section 768.28, this

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